          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          8

             -------------------------------x

          9

         10                 April 19, 2001

                            Start:  10:20 a.m.

         11                 Recess: 12:00 p.m.

         12                 City Hall

                            Council Chambers

         13                 New York, New York

         14

                  B E F O R E:

         15

                         VICTOR ROBLES

         16                                Chairperson,

         17

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Sheldon Leffler

         18                                 Una Clarke

                                            Philip Reed

         19                                 Pedro Espada

                                            Christine Quinn

         20                                 James Oddo

                                            Eva Moskowitz

         21                                 Kathryn Freed

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         217 Broadway -  Suite 511

         25              New York, New York 10007

                              (800) 756-3410

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Terry Marx, MD

          4  Chief Physician for School Health

             NYC Board of Education

          5

             Vincent B. Giordano

          6  Executive Director

             Division of Student Support Services

          7  NYC Board of Education

          8  Benjamin Mojica, MD

             Deputy Commissioner

          9  Division of Health

             NYC Department of Health

         10

             Dr. Carmen Ramos-Bonoan

         11  Assistant Commissioner

             Office of Children and Adolescent Health

         12  NYC Department of Health

         13  Dr. Stephen Frigoman

             Assistant Commissioner

         14  Office of Immunization

             NYC Department of Health

         15

             Dr. Tina Mason

         16  Associate Commissioner for Family

             And Community Health

         17  NYC Department of Health

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            3

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The Committee on

          3  Health is now in session.

          4                 Good morning, and welcome.

          5                 I am Victor Robles, the Chair of the

          6  Committee on Health, and today the Committee will

          7  hold an oversight hearing on the mandatory

          8  immunization of school children in New York City.

          9                 The routine use of vaccines has

         10  greatly reduced the incidence of illness in this

         11  country. Vaccinations are especially important in a

         12  City such as ours, which welcomes scores of people

         13  from countries where immunization may not be

         14  mandated or widely available.  It is from such

         15  concern, that as a member of the New York State

         16  Assembly in 1979, I sponsored a law mandating that

         17  school personnel ensure that students entering

         18  schools are properly immunized. And also that bill,

         19  the original bill only called for the public

         20  schools. My amended bill, which was 1979, added the

         21  private schools or the parochial schools. So for the

         22  first time we had both public and parochial schools.

         23                 Additionally, students not properly

         24  immunized within 14 days of entering school are to

         25  be excluded from further attendance. This law
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          2  intends to ensure that all of our children, in both

          3  public and private schools, are protected from

          4  highly communicable diseases, such as measles, mumps

          5  and polio.

          6                 Today the Committee on Health will

          7  review the City's compliance with the State

          8  vaccination law. It is particularly appropriate that

          9  we are discussing these issues today, since next

         10  week is National Infant Immunization Week.

         11                 We will be hearing from the Board of

         12  Education and the Department of Health, and let me

         13  say that as soon as my other colleagues on this

         14  Committee, we will also then move to vote on Intro.

         15  627-A, which relates to ferret possessions in New

         16  York City, and what I will do is once, and I see

         17  that the prime sponsor is sitting to my right,

         18  Council Member Kathryn Freed, what we will do is, I

         19  may temporarily recess the hearing in order to vote

         20  on the bill, so we will take a vote today on Intro.

         21  627-A, and I will come back to that at the proper

         22  time.

         23                 Let me introduce my colleagues who

         24  happen to be here today, especially members of the

         25  Committee.
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          2                 First, Council Member Eva Moskowitz

          3  from Manhattan, Council Member Pedro Espada from the

          4  Bronx, and Council Member, or the ranking minority

          5  member of this Committee, from Staten Island,

          6  Council Member Jim Oddo. And, of course, joining me,

          7  I'm sure it's been a long, long road, but at least

          8  for some of us who are term limited and she's

          9  seeking something else, but I am sure it must be a

         10  big day for her, because finally we will be moving

         11  on her Introduction, and the prime sponsor has

         12  joined us and at the appropriate time, like I said,

         13  I will move to do the vote and give her the

         14  courtesy, that as a member, although not a member of

         15  this Committee, to perhaps if you have something to

         16  say, to say it, Council Member Kathryn Freed.

         17                 Having said that, of course, my

         18  counsels, my co-counsel, my counsel Judith

         19  MacFarlane and Laura Popa, and let me say that she

         20  is sitting with me because she wears two hats. She

         21  is not only co-counsel to my Committee, but she is

         22  also the counsel to the Education Committee, and she

         23  is very helpful to me when it comes to the Board of

         24  Education, because maybe she may know something that

         25  I don't know, and, so, those of you from the Board
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          2  of Education, watch yourself, because I have an

          3  expert next to me.

          4                 I understand that the Board of

          5  Education will be testifying first, and let's see,

          6  why don't we just come up with the Board of Ed.

          7                 And the reason why we could call the

          8  Board of Education first, normally we would call the

          9  Department of Health, is because those of you who

         10  know the law understands, and those who perhaps

         11  don't know the law, let me be clear.

         12                 While normally the Department of

         13  Health will be the lead agency or the principal

         14  agency because it deals with immunization and

         15  health, when we did the -- when I amended the bill,

         16  unbeknowing to me, and, of course, sometimes you

         17  have to go along with the flow, the burden of

         18  implementation, the processing, the paperwork,

         19  really falls on the Board of Education, in

         20  cooperation with the Department of Health, the

         21  Department of Health does not lose its mandated

         22  responsibility as the chief health Department of the

         23  City, and so there is a check and balance. And, so,

         24  the reason why we have asked the Board of Education

         25  to first come and testify is because of that. And I
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          2  welcome you, and would you just do me the favor of

          3  identifying yourselves for the record, and may I

          4  suggest that when you wanted -- do you see the red

          5  button? That means you're off. If you don't see it,

          6  you're on. Speak into the mike because we don't have

          7  the manual stenographers any longer, it's all taped,

          8  and, for the record, we need to make sure we know

          9  who is speaking, and, so, that's why we would

         10  appreciate you identifying yourselves.

         11                 So, why don't we begin with the women

         12  first, the ladies first.

         13                 DR. MARX: Good morning, Mr. Robles,

         14  and members of the Council. My name is Dr. Terry

         15  Marx. I am the Chief Physician for School Health

         16  with the New York City Board of Education. And prior

         17  to coming to the Board in November, I worked in four

         18  middle schools in Washington Heights as a

         19  pediatrician in school-based clinics.

         20                 With me is Vincent Giordano, the

         21  Executive Director of the Division of Student

         22  Support Services at the New York City Board of

         23  Education.

         24                 On behalf of the Chancellor, Harold

         25  Levy, and the Members of the Board of Education, I
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          2  would like to thank you for the opportunity to

          3  provide testimony to this Committee on a topic that

          4  is of concern for all of us, the immunization of our

          5  public school students.

          6                 As you all know, the public health

          7  law requires that children must have received

          8  specific immunizations before they're allowed to

          9  enter school. Each child's immunization record

         10  information is entered into the school system's ATS

         11  system, the Board of Education's computerized

         12  information system.

         13                 It is through this ATS that rates of

         14  immunization of the City's school children are

         15  generated, and the compliance with state law is

         16  measured.

         17                 The New York City Board of Education

         18  monitors immunization rates both citywide, as well

         19  as for each school district. The most current data

         20  from ATS, as of April 16th, 2001, shows that the

         21  immunization rate for new entrants is 85 percent

         22  Citywide, and overall the school compliance rate at

         23  this time is 92 percent.

         24                 The Board of Education works closely

         25  with superintendents and principals to maintain or
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          2  improve each districts level of compliance through

          3  letters and follow-up telephone conversations.

          4                 For families, we stress the

          5  importance of immunizations through providing

          6  information to parent association meetings, school

          7  health fairs and literature sent home to parents, et

          8  cetera.

          9                 When students are not in compliance

         10  with immunization requirements, the school attempts

         11  to reach out to the student's family.

         12                 Finally, when a student's

         13  immunizations are not complete, the schools issue

         14  warning and then exclusion letters.

         15                 It's important to note that parents

         16  are responsible for bringing immunization

         17  documentation to the school secretary at the time of

         18  registration. The secretary, in turn, is then

         19  responsible for entering this information into the

         20  ATS system. We are exploring ways to improve

         21  outreach to parents, coordinate efforts with the

         22  Department of Health and facilitate data entry into

         23  the ATS system so that it more accurately tracks the

         24  levels of immunization of our students.

         25                 When schools with low immunization
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          2  rates are looked at more closely, often these

          3  students have in fact been immunized, but the

          4  information is just not reflected in the system.

          5                 Throughout this school year, the

          6  Board and the Department of Health have combined

          7  resources to collaborate on the Hepatitis B Project.

          8                 As you know, effective September

          9  2000, all seventh grade students and students in

         10  ungraded classes who reached their 12th birthday by

         11  December 31st of the current school year must now

         12  have three doses of pediatric Hepatitis B vaccine,

         13  or two doses of adult Hepatitis B vaccine.

         14                 In an effort to improve the Hepatitis

         15  B immunization rates, teams from the Department of

         16  Health have been visiting schools throughout the

         17  City to administer the Hepatitis B vaccine.

         18                 Information packets, permission

         19  letters and dates of scheduled visits have been sent

         20  to parents of seventh graders, explaining the

         21  necessity of the vaccine, compliance with law and

         22  the ability of the Health Department to administer

         23  the vaccine at the school free of charge.

         24                 As an added measure toward improving

         25  immunization rates for next year's seventh graders,
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          2  the Board of Education recently sent letters

          3  regarding the Hepatitis B requirement to the parents

          4  of every current sixth grade student throughout the

          5  City.

          6                 The letter informed parents of the

          7  requirement, and provided information on how they

          8  could obtain these immunizations for their children.

          9                 Given the importance of schools

         10  maintaining accurate health information on their

         11  students, the Board of Education has been working to

         12  improve its current computer system to include a

         13  more comprehensive health component. Staff from the

         14  Board of Education and the City Comptroller's Office

         15  visited the Philadelphia school system to view its

         16  computerized student health information system, and

         17  shared this information with the Department of

         18  Health. Although the specific system was

         19  informative, for technical reasons the Board cannot

         20  use it, but efforts continue to develop a

         21  computerized health system that allows both the

         22  Board of Education and the Department of Health to

         23  share the health data on our students in an effort

         24  to better serve their needs.

         25                 We hope to accomplish this goal
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          2  during this next school year.

          3                 In an effort to share our current

          4  health information system with the Department of

          5  Health, the Board is currently working with the

          6  Department of Health to enable them to have access

          7  to the ATS system. We hope to implement this data

          8  sharing during the coming school year.

          9                 This access will give the Department

         10  the ability to view student data and immunization

         11  records, as well as future health screens once

         12  developed.

         13                 In the interim, the Board of

         14  Education and the Department of Health are currently

         15  sharing these files through a computerized tape.

         16                 Finally, we're taking the need for

         17  computer access further to include a test of the

         18  Citywide immunization registry.

         19                 This registry is a new system, now

         20  utilized by physicians throughout the City, whereby

         21  they enter information into a central computerized

         22  registry when they administer immunization to a

         23  child.

         24                 This information has been recorded by

         25  the registry and stored as a database. As families
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          2  move throughout the City, schools and physicians can

          3  then access a student's immunization records from

          4  the registry.

          5                 The Board of Education and the

          6  Department of Health are working together in the

          7  hope that this system will provide immunization

          8  information on our students.

          9                 Although progress has been made over

         10  the past few years, I recognize that more must be

         11  done to further improve and enhance our efforts.

         12                 The health of all our children is a

         13  priority of the Chancellor and the Board of

         14  Education.

         15                 As a commitment to this priority, the

         16  Chancellor established both my position as the Chief

         17  Physician for School Health, and a School Health

         18  Commission to plan and implement further efforts.

         19                 We hope that you found this

         20  information useful and we'll try to answer any

         21  questions that you might have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 Let me also acknowledge the presence

         25  of the Chair of the Subcommittee on Mental Health,
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          2  Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services, which is

          3  under the Committee on Health, my colleague from

          4  Brooklyn, Council Member Una Clarke, she has also

          5  joined us.

          6                 Let me just ask a couple of

          7  questions, and then I will turn to my colleagues.

          8                 Chief Physician for School Health, I

          9  guess that position is what used to be called the

         10  Health Coordinator within the Board of Education; is

         11  that -- no?

         12                 DR. MARX: There hasn't been a

         13  position like this before. It's a newly created

         14  position.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: By the

         16  Chancellor?

         17                 DR. MARX: By the Chancellor.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I want to

         19  make sure, because the last time during the budget

         20  hearings, and I was able to, not in a health

         21  hearing, but because I am a member of the Finance

         22  Committee, I confronted the Chancellor with my

         23  frustration about health issues that are in the

         24  Board of Education, and he indicated that one of the

         25  things he first noticed was that there was really

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  nobody coordinating the health issues within the

          3  Board of Education; so is that the position that you

          4  are now?

          5                 DR. MARX: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So we all

          7  understand that when we deal now with school-based

          8  health clinics or now nurses in, which -- let me ask

          9  you the question: I am led to believe that

         10  collectively the Council and the Administration

         11  moved to put a school nurse in every elementary

         12  school, and that in the middle grade school there is

         13  part-time because we have not gotten to that point

         14  where there is every school; is there a nurse in

         15  every elementary school currently in the system?

         16                 DR. MARX: Theoretically, yes. I

         17  believe --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But theoretically

         19  --

         20                 DR. MARX: But there are vacancies,

         21  there's a nursing shortage, so every day, yes, there

         22  is not physically a nurse in every school, but that

         23  is Department of Health nurse staffing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         25  that. I just want to make sure.
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          2                 Okay, and, so, that's the position

          3  you hold.

          4                 As I understand the law, the burden

          5  falls on the principal to make sure that all of the

          6  necessary paperwork, the immunization certification,

          7  the card, that they're the ones.

          8                 You said that you are up to right now

          9  92 percent overall. Why are we at 92 and not at 100?

         10                 DR. MARX: That's the million dollar

         11  question. There are lots of factors in this.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, give me

         13  some of them.

         14                 DR. MARX: Some of them are that kids

         15  have received immunizations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Have what?

         17                 DR. MARX: Have, in fact, received

         18  immunizations, but either the record --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But there is no

         20  proof of that?

         21                 DR. MARX: There is no proof of that,

         22  either because they came from another country and

         23  didn't bring the records with them, the records are

         24  only half legible, they got immunizations. In this

         25  country only part of them are on their yellow card.
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          2  They don't want to get more immunizations because

          3  they know they got them, et cetera. So, part of it

          4  is the documentation that the parent brings in to

          5  us. Part of us is that the documentation is in the

          6  school somewhere, not necessarily reflected into the

          7  computer system, and that somewhere may be on the

          8  schools 104 form, on the Department of Health's 103

          9  handwritten form and it hasn't made it into the ATS

         10  system.

         11                 MR. GIORDANO: I think, Councilman --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Go ahead.

         13  Identify yourself for the record.

         14                 MR. GIORDANO: Vincent Giordano, the

         15  Executive Director, Student Support Services.

         16                 Given what Dr. Marx just indicated,

         17  we're probably closer to 96 percent. Ninety-two

         18  percent is what we actually have documented in the

         19  computerized system. Usually by the end of the year,

         20  by the time we have all the data entry in, and, as

         21  you know, we're a system that's constantly in flux,

         22  kids coming and going, so at 100 percent any given

         23  time for us, you know, tomorrow a new kid comes in,

         24  we're back to 99.9. So, that's the issue. I think

         25  we're closer to 96, 97, given what has to be put
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          2  into the system.

          3                 DR. MARX: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I will open to my

          5  colleagues and then come back again.

          6                 One of my concerns is that for some

          7  of us, even in 1979 when this law was amended, and

          8  every ten years there's a census, as a person from a

          9  community of color, and especially as a Hispanic,

         10  clearly the census shows that even although the data

         11  has not been released yet, but if you turn to the

         12  1990 census, it shows clearly a large number of

         13  people are coming from Central America, Latin

         14  American countries. I know that in Brooklyn, where I

         15  come from, I have Russian Jews coming from Europe,

         16  and because those numbers are growing, and for the

         17  most part especially, it's not only Latinos, but

         18  even when you have Russian Jews or the Caribbean,

         19  when it comes to Haitians or what have you, we're

         20  family orientated, and, so, we have children.

         21                 Do we have an idea of how many of

         22  those students come to our schools? For example,

         23  last year, for September, which I'm assuming it will

         24  end June for those, but then pretty soon you're

         25  getting ready for September of this year for next
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          2  year; how many of those students do we find are

          3  registering into our system that perhaps do not have

          4  a complete immunization Chart?

          5                 MR. GIORDANO: I don't know if we have

          6  the number, the actual number of new immigrants to

          7  the system, but in terms of new entrants, as of

          8  April 16th, I believe we said it was 85 percent, and

          9  what usually happens is between now and June, as you

         10  indicated, as we close the system down and we update

         11  it, 85 gets into the 92 percent.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So this 85

         13  percent that you mentioned --

         14                 MR. GIORDANO: It's new entrants into

         15  the system.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: New entrants,

         17  i.e., last year when September, or is it 85 percent

         18  coming this September?

         19                 MR. GIORDANO: It's from this

         20  September through the course of the year.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: This September.

         22                 MR. GIORDANO: Through the course of

         23  the year, right.

         24                 DR. MARX: Because kids come in all

         25  through the year.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          3                 Now, last year, I'm just trying to

          4  get an idea, so I can have it clear in my mind. Last

          5  year what was the percentage then?

          6                 DR. MARX: We actually have new admits

          7  during the year for the year, '99 to 2000 was almost

          8  86,000 new admits.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         10                 Of the 86,000 that came into the

         11  system in September of last year, that's what you're

         12  saying to me?

         13                 DR. MARX: Or through the course of

         14  the year.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         16  that, okay.

         17                 How many of those -- that number, is

         18  it still, that number, waiting for the proper

         19  immunization, or that number --

         20                 What I'm looking for is, what is the

         21  number -- here is what I'm getting to: The law that

         22  I amended said, you have 14 days to comply with the

         23  law, if not, those children cannot continue to

         24  attend school.

         25                 It is brought to my attention that we
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          2  have students right now in the classroom that are in

          3  the classrooms beyond the 14 days and have not been

          4  denied continuation, but then I looked, as I'm

          5  getting prepared for this hearing, that there's a

          6  discrepancy. For example, the law is clear, 14 days.

          7  But then there is a Chancellor's regulation that

          8  extends it for a year. And, so, I'm just trying to

          9  get a handle between the 14 days, which is in

         10  violation, and I need to know the role of what is

         11  the role of the State Department of Health, i.e.,

         12  the violation of the law, what are they saying to

         13  you, and if they -- has this regulation been

         14  submitted to the state saying we have this

         15  regulation which extends the 14 days to up to a

         16  year, or was that implemented without any clearance

         17  from the State?

         18                 DR. MARX: My understanding, although

         19  I would have to go back and read, is that accounts

         20  for the provisional entry.

         21                 In other words, you can't be admitted

         22  to school if you've had one shot, for instance. And

         23  the family has to go either get the records or

         24  obtain the rest of the shots.

         25                 But there is often very specifically
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          2  medically dictated time periods, you have to wait

          3  between shots.

          4                 So, it may take you up to six months,

          5  because that is the waiting period -- actually, no,

          6  I take it back. It could take you as long as eight

          7  months to start from zero and be complete, if you

          8  did all of the immunizations.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         10                 DR. MARX: So, you can have a

         11  provisional entry and then the trick is to keep on

         12  top of these kids to make sure they continue them in

         13  their sequence.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, I'm just

         15  trying to understand.

         16                 DR. MARX: Right. So, there is a

         17  medical basis for that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The number you

         19  gave me for this year, which started last year to

         20  this year, I think you said it was how many?

         21                 MR. GIORDANO: Maybe we could do it

         22  this way. This year, new entrants to date are almost

         23  78,000.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, of the

         25  78,000 as of today --
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          2                 MR. GIORDANO: As of today --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: How many of those

          4  --

          5                 MR. GIORDANO: Eighty-five percent are

          6  in compliance.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          8                 MR. GIORDANO: Now, the other 15

          9  percent could be either excludable. I would think

         10  they are the minority. The majority of that 15,

         11  remaining 15 percent, are in the provisional stage,

         12  need for documentation into the computerized system,

         13  the paper exists, it needs to be, that's that 15

         14  percent, and we rectify the records by time closing

         15  the school year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, once the

         17  school year ends, do you follow up with those

         18  records for those students that perhaps are still

         19  not completely immunized?

         20                 MR. GIORDANO: Absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But my point is,

         22  come September, will they be in a classroom, even

         23  though they are not completely immunized, although

         24  the 14 days have come and gone, and the Chancellor's

         25  regulation of the year has come and gone?
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          2                 In other words, I accept and I

          3  understand a timetable of when vaccination is given

          4  and then you have boosters, and, you know, I'm not

          5  an expert, but, you know, boosters are the easiest

          6  that I can recall.

          7                 MR. GIORDANO: The best way to answer

          8  that is, the bottom line what you're asking is do we

          9  exclude, and, yes, we do exclude, when it comes up

         10  to that.

         11                 Is there a child who, you know, in

         12  some school the millions plus children that should

         13  have been excluded? Possibly. But I can also state

         14  to you definitively that we have gone as far as if a

         15  particular parent refuses to cooperate in terms of

         16  the immunization of reporting it to ACS, for

         17  example, there is, I believe it is the Department of

         18  Health regulation that a principal can personally be

         19  fined $2,000 if they do not exclude. Principals have

         20  been called to tribunals.

         21                 So, yes, all those measures are in

         22  place, and that's why we regularly monitor

         23  school-by-school what the percentage --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         25                 My last thing is, those students,
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          2  those scenarios, based upon your testimony, the

          3  Department of Health receives?

          4                 MR. GIORDANO: Yes, absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That information

          6  is given?

          7                 MR. GIORDANO: Whatever we do, we work

          8  collaboratively with the Department of Health, the

          9  data is similar, you know, just as an aside, you

         10  will see their data I think says, we say 85, they

         11  say 84, the difference was we rounded up, they

         12  rounded down, but the data is identical.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine.

         14                 I believe, I did see, we have been

         15  joined also by Council Member Chris Quinn, from

         16  Manhattan. And we've also been joined by Council

         17  Member Sheldon Leffler from Queens.

         18                 Council Member Moskowitz.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman. And thank you, Dr. Marx, for joining

         21  us, and Mr. Giordano.

         22                 I wanted to ask a question about the

         23  ATS, two or three questions, one about the ATS. I

         24  wanted to understand, do principals have access to

         25  the system?
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          2                 MR. GIORDANO: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: And if so,

          4  in what context?

          5                 MR. GIORDANO: Principals have access

          6  to the system in terms of inputting data and

          7  retrieving data. Every district has an ATS

          8  coordinator, basically a technological person

          9  assisting the system.

         10                 The ATS system is beyond

         11  immunizations, it's our attendance record-keeping

         12  system, it's entire student profile, it's, you know,

         13  records.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So, this is

         15  not on line. This is an off-the-shelf software

         16  system that they can just install?

         17                 MR. GIORDANO: It's the Board of Ed's

         18  centralized computer -- I mean, I'm not

         19  technological, but it's the Board of Ed's

         20  centralized computer system that captures the whole

         21  profile and demographics of students.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I

         23  have been in the position before where the Board of

         24  Ed says that principals have access to things, and I

         25  go into schools and I find that's not the case.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 So, you are confident that I could

          3  walk into any school and I could say can I see a

          4  copy of your ATS system and they would have it?

          5                 MR. GIORDANO: I think the issue is

          6  the hardware versus the ability to draw it down, so

          7  if the principal had schools -- yes. The answer is

          8  yes, if there is a problem with the mechanics of it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: But you

         10  don't need access to the Internet, because if you

         11  do, then we have a problem.

         12                 DR. MARX: This precedes the Internet.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         14                 DR. MARX: The other thing is, as I

         15  recall, high schools have not all had ATS, that's

         16  new. So, high schools were not hooked in until just

         17  this year.

         18                 MR. GIORDANO: Right. We had two

         19  systems. The community school district were on the

         20  ATS system forever, that I can remember, and prior

         21  to last year, the high schools were on a separate

         22  system, they are now, every school is now on the ATS

         23  system.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  So, the

         25  high schools will be getting it, or have it?
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          2                 MR. GIORDANO: They have it now.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: They have

          4  it. Okay.

          5                 My second question is, Dr. Marx, you

          6  say in your testimony that the immunization rate

          7  ranges from 85 percent to 92 percent systemwide, I

          8  take it, or I guess 85 percent is for new entrants

          9  and 92 percent is overall.

         10                 How does that vary in terms of school

         11  district or geographic area? What is the lowest rate

         12  of immunization for any particular school district?

         13                 DR. MARX: It does vary, I don't

         14  actually have those numbers.

         15                 MR. GIORDANO: It varies, and it might

         16  not necessarily vary by a district. If I can give

         17  you an anecdote for something, we monitor the rates

         18  just to see where they are, and last year I had a

         19  district that had one school, the district itself

         20  was relatively high but had one school that was very

         21  low, you know, from anyone's standard, and when I

         22  spoke to the superintendent, the issue was that that

         23  particular school buses in 90 percent of their

         24  children, which means parents don't actually come to

         25  the building. And, so, there was difficulty in
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          2  getting the actual documentation.

          3                 The superintendent made an all out

          4  effort on a weekend to have the school open, as well

          5  as sending out staff to homes of children across the

          6  borough that they were bussed from to get the

          7  documentation and by, you know, the second Monday,

          8  the rate went up to the district's average.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Could you

         10  just answer the question? What is the lowest? If we

         11  picked a school, would we find a school that has a

         12  ten percent immunization rate?

         13                 MR. GIORDANO: I don't think so.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: What is the

         15  lowest you go?

         16                 DR. MARX: Dr. Friedman probably

         17  knows. I think it's 60 or 70 percent.

         18                 MR. GIORDANO: Yes, probably 70ish,

         19  around that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Mr.

         21  Chairman, would it be appropriate to ask for a list

         22  of each school and the immunization rate?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It's funny, I was

         24  just asking her. Let me just say, the question is,

         25  do you have by each school the immunization rate?
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          2                 MR. GIORDANO: The answer is yes, we

          3  do have it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Every year?

          5                 MR. GIORDANO: We have it by --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Can we provide

          7  this Committee with that list for not only this year

          8  but last year?

          9                 DR. MARX: It's generated at the

         10  Central Board of Education whenever it's needed, and

         11  monitored monthly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I was laughing

         13  because that was the first thing I was asking the

         14  Counsel. So, we will provide you with that

         15  information.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I will provide

         18  all of the members with that information.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I asked

         20  that, because, you know, I would be interested in

         21  being helpful, if there are schools in my district

         22  that have a low rate, I want to make sure that I'm

         23  in contact with the principal, and that's the

         24  purpose of my asking.

         25                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 MR. GIORDANO: We welcome that support

          3  actually.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          5                 DR. MARX: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          7  Oddo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman, and good morning.

         10                 Dr. Marx, I represent one borough, my

         11  home borough of Staten Island, that has an

         12  alarmingly high seemingly increasing rate of autism,

         13  and there is a growing belief among parents that

         14  there is a nexus between immunization or how you

         15  group the immunization shots together and autism. I

         16  don't know if a medical scholarship backs that up.

         17  But certainly the parents, there are many parents

         18  that have come to me that believe there is a

         19  connection.

         20                 My question to you would be (a) do

         21  you want to take a shot at answering that? And (b)

         22  is it your experience that there is reluctance or a

         23  growing reluctance across the City of parents to

         24  have their kids immunized because of that fear?

         25                 DR. MARX: I will take a shot at it.
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          2                 This is an issue that is being

          3  raised, it's out there on the Internet, it's

          4  everywhere in families' concerns, especially with

          5  children with autism. I had actually been the

          6  recipient of requests for medical exemptions for the

          7  immunization requirements based on a concern around

          8  autism. So, I actually, in my tenure here at the

          9  Board, have already looked at the data around this,

         10  and consulting with Dr. Friedman of the Immunization

         11  Bureau, who is here as well, and there does not seem

         12  to be a consensus in the literature that there is a

         13  link, and people have done, CDC and others have done

         14  exhaustive studies trying to investigate this, and

         15  there doesn't seem to be a link, in fact, there

         16  seems to be research supporting that there is no

         17  link.

         18                 However, the popular fears continue.

         19  So, our response to this has been that, the good

         20  news is that many parents are getting concerned

         21  about this, after the first measle shot -- in other

         22  words, their child already got the first one at age

         23  one year, and what we have been able to do is allow

         24  them to get a blood test in the hopes that they can

         25  show that they're immune to this, to the illnesses,
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          2  the measles, mumps, it's mostly measles concern, and

          3  if they're immune to measles by an antibody test,

          4  then they're allowed in the schools.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, if I'm a

          6  parent, and I have this, you know, obviously

          7  legitimate concern, and I just refuse to have my

          8  child have the measles shot or anything else, and I

          9  want to have my child attend a public school, what

         10  happens at that point?

         11                 DR. MARX: My heart goes out to them,

         12  but I don't think we can let them in. It's just at

         13  this point it violates public health law. If they

         14  want a home school, if they want to do whatever they

         15  can. Especially in an illness like measles that is

         16  so contagious and has so many significant side

         17  effects, they have to be protected.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Councilman, one

         19  of the things that I have to say, and, again, to all

         20  of my colleagues, one of the purposes why I'm having

         21  this hearing, again, the last time we looked at the

         22  bill was 1979 was I was in the State Legislature. My

         23  hope is that after this hearing, and I challenge

         24  both the Board of Education and the Department of

         25  Health, if there are areas that we should be
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          2  looking, because I want to move forward a report,

          3  and possibly from the report introduce a resolution

          4  calling upon the Legislature to revisit the bill so

          5  we can -- because since '79, a lot of things do

          6  happen, and this was not an issue that was brought

          7  up then, and I think it's about time we, and this is

          8  what this hearing is about, is to revisit and look

          9  at it, and if anyone has any recommendations of

         10  things that we should be looking at to help the

         11  State Legislature, i.e., amending the current law,

         12  then that's what this hearing is about.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last

         14  question, Mr. Chairman, along on the same issue: Was

         15  there a change in the grouping of the shots, in that

         16  at some point in time in the not too distant past we

         17  did one and now we grew, as Pedro was just saying to

         18  me, we regrouped them together, when did that change

         19  happen, why did it happen?

         20                 DR. MARX: I'm trying to remember.

         21  There was a time when only one measle shot, one MMR

         22  was required, and that was at age 15 months. Then

         23  the measles epidemic began in the late eighties,

         24  early nineties, and the age was shifted down to one

         25  year, subsequently also a second dose was required.
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          2                 So, the grouping per se has changed

          3  over the last decade or two in that we do it, the

          4  first one at a younger age, and also give two doses

          5  now.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But that is done

          9  based upon professional medical decisions based upon

         10  need.

         11                 DR. MARX: Absolutely. And these are

         12  not policies --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Not done by the

         14  Board of Ed or regulations, but rather by the

         15  professional health --

         16                 DR. MARX: That's right. That's right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Whether it's the

         18  Board of Health --

         19                 DR. MARX: The CDC, the Academy --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I just want to

         21  make sure --

         22                 DR. MARX: We reflect their

         23  guidelines.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         25  Clarke.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 Let me first put first things first.

          5                 Dr. Marx, is that the name?

          6                 DR. MARX: Marx.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Is that MD

          8  doctor or Ph.D doctor, so that I can --

          9                 DR. MARX: MD.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: MD doctor,

         11  okay, fine.

         12                 Now that you've had this position,

         13  and it's a newly created one, what is your area of

         14  specialization as a physician?

         15                 DR. MARX: I had been a pediatrician,

         16  a practicing pediatrician.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Good. Thank

         18  you very much.

         19                 That being the case, is there some

         20  comparison, or some study that you've done

         21  concerning those entering school at an early

         22  childhood level, whether in fact they come fully

         23  immunized, home versus those who have had day care,

         24  HeadStart or family day care experience; are you

         25  doing that? And then followed up by that, is every
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          2  school required to keep medical records in the

          3  school building? And if so, is there a nurse that

          4  monitors, and at least notify parents when the next

          5  set of immunizations are due, or follow up on those?

          6                 DR. MARX: Let me see, I'll answer

          7  your first question.

          8                 I personally have not done a study

          9  looking at early childhood or day care, preschool,

         10  the rates of immunizations. I would think, although,

         11  and I'm sure the data is out there, that the

         12  compliance is better. If they had to show

         13  immunizations to get into preschool or day care,

         14  they are more than likely to have gotten started

         15  earlier, so by the time they get to kindergarten

         16  they are more likely to be up to date, but I don't

         17  know that for sure.

         18                 In answer to your second question,

         19  yes, there is a nurse. Understand that the student

         20  health services in New York City schools are

         21  multi-agency, just to say the Board of Ed has nurses

         22  that are staffing for special ed students, the

         23  Department of Health supplies the nurses for general

         24  ed students in elementary schools, and then there is

         25  a third player in this which is New York State
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          2  funded school-based clinics.

          3                 So, the health services are

          4  multi-agency and will vary based on who is in the

          5  school and what the services are. So, yes, there is

          6  a nurse in every elementary school, usually

          7  Department of Health, sometimes the school-based

          8  clinic, as well as a special ed nurse.

          9                 And there are health records that

         10  each of these agencies will maintain on each child,

         11  and review.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Would you find

         13  it more useful then if there was some interagency

         14  coordination between both, between all three

         15  agencies that you've just mentioned, have it

         16  centralized so that we would be able to tell based

         17  across that ban who is immunized, who is not

         18  immunized, who needs follow-up for immunization,

         19  because if it is done as fragmented as you say, you

         20  have given us figures of up to 92 percent immunized;

         21  are you talking across all of those services for all

         22  young people?

         23                 DR. MARX: Yes. This is central.

         24  Regardless of who is providing the health care, this

         25  is
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          2  Board of Ed data, all right, that everybody feeds

          3  in.

          4                 However, your point about

          5  coordinating these services is the crux of the issue

          6  right now in school health and New York City

          7  schools, and in part that's why I'm here and why

          8  I've been working very closely with not only the

          9  Department of Health and the school-based clinics,

         10  as well to try and get further integration and

         11  cooperation and real concerted joint effort to

         12  improve the health of kids in the schools.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And I have a

         14  million dollar question; and that is, because the

         15  school is getting large numbers of immigrant

         16  students from all over the world, immunization and

         17  requirements are different, depending on where they

         18  come from.

         19                 Is there a monitoring or a gate where

         20  you look at everybody's entrance into school,

         21  whether they've had immunization or not?

         22                 If a youngster comes without any

         23  record of immunization, and is not able to bring it

         24  between the 14 days that I hear, is there a protocol

         25  for either complete regiment of immunization so that
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          2  you know that they're immunized, or do you wait to

          3  get some record?

          4                 DR. MARX: Well, I think there is a

          5  protocol, which is to say if a parent says I have

          6  the records, I forgot them at home, fine, they have

          7  those 14 days to bring them in.

          8                 If the parent says, I have records,

          9  but I didn't bring them, they're back with my aunt

         10  in the Dominican Republic, you know, there is some

         11  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Try Jamaica.

         13                 DR. MARX: Wherever. It doesn't

         14  matter. You know, I used to work in Washington

         15  Heights, what can I say.

         16                 The records may take longer to come

         17  and I think there's room for leeway and I think in

         18  the regulations that you can give up to a month for

         19  families trying to get them from foreign places.

         20                 Ultimately, though, somebody is in

         21  charge of monitoring that, and blowing the whistle

         22  and saying enough is enough, you have tried, now you

         23  have to go get them, get these shots at your own

         24  physician at Department of Health, immunization

         25  clinics, wherever you can get them, you need to
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          2  produce those shots.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: At what point

          4  are students then excluded?

          5                 I will hazard to tell you, because I

          6  come from the experience, if you were trying to get

          7  a health record from a rural child that came in from

          8  Jamaica --

          9                 DR. MARX: Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: By the time

         11  they go to Spanish Town it's going to take you two

         12  years before you'll get a record.

         13                 DR. MARX: Absolutely. And I think the

         14  school system has a fine line, while wanting to

         15  ensure that kids are immunized, kids can't learn if

         16  they're not in school, and you don't want them out

         17  on the streets, and so you try to push, cajole, do

         18  everything you can short of excluding a child, but

         19  when you need to exclude a child, you have to do

         20  that, if that's the only stick that you have left to

         21  play to get that child immunized. And I think how

         22  and when you do that is the crux of the matter. And

         23  if you've given families other options and places to

         24  go, they need to exercise those choices and get

         25  their child immunized.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: My final

          3  question is, since you are now in place and have

          4  this important role to play, and because there are

          5  so many players within the system that I would think

          6  would be accountable to you to make sure that every

          7  child is immunized, or that health is followed upon,

          8  can you share with us how you intend to do that, and

          9  what the protocol is going to be? And because the

         10  Council has this oversight responsibility, how you

         11  will respond to that?

         12                 DR. MARX: Right.

         13                 Well, I think to back up, even before

         14  I came to work at the Board in November, the

         15  Chancellor appointed a school health advisory

         16  commission, and this was comprised of professionals

         17  from all over the City working with children in

         18  schools, policy people, actual practitioners, you

         19  know, professionals, support staff, et cetera, who

         20  are working on this commission and have come up with

         21  a series of recommendations, and we are hoping to

         22  have the report out within the next month, and I

         23  think in a sense that is my blueprint, and it will

         24  deal with how you integrate student health into the

         25  fabric of the schools in the school system.
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          2                 And it has to be very multi-faceted

          3  and very broad, broadly defined health.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 DR. MARX: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me perhaps

         10  pick up and explore some things that have been said.

         11                 Number one, to all of my colleagues,

         12  let me say that is why I believe that is so

         13  important. Let me remind you that this Chair and

         14  this Committee have a bill called the Interagency

         15  Coordinating Council on Health Services which

         16  focuses on coordinating all the agencies, just like

         17  the ICC of youth services, this Administration is

         18  opposed to it. So, if you really want to coordinate,

         19  I'm ready to move my bill, I need five of you to say

         20  let's move it, and I'm ready to vote on it.

         21                 And then you'll have coordination,

         22  including the Board of Education. But so long as

         23  there is no mechanism, that's the problem, and

         24  that's my frustration. I've been saying that for

         25  some time, and it's not because we haven't put into
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          2  place a mechanism, because a good example is the

          3  Department of Youth and Community Development, that

          4  if you recall before the merger, we had problems

          5  like crazy. That's my problem with the Department of

          6  Health, in trying to get some kind of information

          7  sometimes and in fairness to them, you know, other

          8  agencies that may not be Mayoral agencies, they may

          9  be boards or Commission or what have you, but the

         10  ICC of youth services has really been a mechanism of

         11  checks and balances, and that's why we don't hear

         12  the complaints we used to hear.

         13                 So, I'm ready to move my bill. Okay,

         14  I need four more of you.

         15                 Now, let me make sure -- you've got

         16  to go down to John Banks and make sure that bill

         17  gets moved.

         18                 Let me make sure I heard some things

         19  -- the responsibility of the actual counting for

         20  the record is the Board of Education, not the

         21  Department of Health. Although you share it.

         22                 Following what Council Member Una

         23  Clarke was asking you, who -- is it you who monitors

         24  compliance? Is that what your new role is going to

         25  be?
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          2                 DR. MARX: That's a good question.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I'm only

          4  referring to on the paper side.

          5                 DR. MARX: Right, on the paper side.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because when the

          7  Department of Health comes in, we'll deal with if in

          8  the event you don't have a nurse in the school, if

          9  you don't have a school-based clinic, the law, the

         10  State law says the Department of Health as a team

         11  could come in and is supposed to work with you, so

         12  that where you cannot provide the immunization,

         13  they're responsible to provide it.

         14                 And, so, I'll deal with the

         15  Department of Health, I just need to know who is it

         16  that really monitors, and who reaches out then to

         17  the Department of Health, for example, saying can we

         18  get a team in so that we can immunize?

         19                 MR. GIORDANO: We do that. The

         20  Division of Student Support Services is responsible

         21  for monitoring immunization compliance throughout

         22  the City.

         23                 We regularly, periodically, weekly,

         24  on an as-needed basis, review the ATS system and

         25  draw down. When we see district schools, whatever,
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          2  not in compliance then, you know, there are times I

          3  make a direct phone call to a superintendent, the

          4  Chancellor will make a direct call to a

          5  superintendent, we share that information with the

          6  Department of Health. But clearly the responsibility

          7  for monitoring it is an ongoing effort at the Board

          8  of Ed through my division.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I guess my

         10  question where I'm going to is, when is the cutoff?

         11  I'm still trying to understand this 14 days and the

         12  extension of one year, and I understand the

         13  boosters, what have you. I guess my question is,

         14  when do you have no other recourse, have no other

         15  choice but to actually tell, even though it may take

         16  so long to ascertain what, quote, might be a child

         17  got a shot, but has to go to -- forget about Jamaica

         18  -- Puerto Rico. Although, I hope it is not as long

         19  in Puerto Rico, but let's just say that, in the

         20  mountains where the rainforest is in Puerto Rico,

         21  you know, someone living up there, that those

         22  records may not get to you, when is that cutoff that

         23  you have, or Council Member Oddo, in terms of his

         24  scenario, the law is clear, you know, it comes a

         25  point where you just have to say sorry, you cannot
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          2  come into school; when does that kick in?

          3                 DR. MARX: It should be kicking in

          4  ongoing. There is no question. You don't wait til

          5  the end of the year to kick it in.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: How many of those

          7  students in this calendar year, meaning September

          8  til the end of June, currently have been denied

          9  access to school?

         10                 DR. MARX: I don't know. Warning

         11  letters have gone out. There are kids that I know of

         12  that are being excluded. Mainly at this point around

         13  the Hepatitis B actually, that's created a huge

         14  amount of warning exclusion letters with new the

         15  recommendation.  The actual numbers I don't know.

         16                 DR. MARX: We can get those numbers

         17  for you, but they're actually --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, the other

         19  question before I, I have no other, unless my

         20  colleagues, this paper trail, this reporting that's

         21  you, when does the Department of Health, when do

         22  they get it? Is that an ongoing?

         23                 MR. GIORDANO: That's ongoing. It's

         24  simultaneous.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, every time

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  there is a student that perhaps -- so, the

          3  Department of Health also knows when there are

          4  students --

          5                 DR. MARX: We have monthly meetings

          6  around immunization.

          7                 MR. GIORDANO: And as needed during

          8  the course of that month. We are in regular contact

          9  with DOH.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         11                 Any other questions?

         12                 Seeing none, I want to thank you. I

         13  appreciate that.

         14                 Department of Health.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Dr. Mojica, it's

         16  always good to see you again, sir. Why don't you

         17  identify yourself for the record and those of your

         18  colleagues who are with you.

         19                 Do you have a prepared remarks?

         20                 DR. MOJICA: Yes, sir, we do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Go ahead, Doctor.

         22                 DR. MOJICA: Good morning, Mr.

         23  Chairman. Members of the Committee, I am Benjamin

         24  Mojica, Deputy Commissioner at the Division of

         25  Health --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Hold on a second.

          3                 Folks, please. Sergeant-At-Arms, any

          4  discussion, bring it out of the Chambers. I'm

          5  telling you, I'm getting a headache here. I mean

          6  it's really unfair. I'm trying to listen to the

          7  testimony and it's very rude of people having -- if

          8  you have any meetings, please take it out of the

          9  Chambers.

         10                 I'm sorry, Dr. Mojica.

         11                 DR. MOJICA: Good morning, members of

         12  the Committee, Mr. Chairman. I'm Benjamin Mojica,

         13  Deputy Commissioner, Division of Health, New York

         14  City Health Department. With me today, immediately

         15  to my right, is Dr. Carmen Ramos-Bonoan, Assistant

         16  Commissioner for the Bureau of -- I'm sorry, the

         17  Office of Children and Adolescent Health.

         18  Immediately to my left is Dr. Stephen Frigoman,

         19  Assistant Commissioner for the Office of

         20  Immunization. And to my far left is Dr. Tina Mason

         21  (phonetic), Associate Commissioner for Family and

         22  Community Health.

         23                 We are pleased to have an opportunity

         24  to provide you with an update on the immunization

         25  status of school children in New York City.
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          2                 As you know, from past testimony, the

          3  City Health Department conducts a wide variety of

          4  activities that taken together provide a

          5  comprehensive approach to the prevention of

          6  immunizable, communicable diseases.

          7                 Our program efforts begin before the

          8  birth of a child, where our family and community

          9  health bureau caseworkers educate expectant mothers

         10  about immunization requirements and recommendations.

         11                 These efforts continue when we ensure

         12  that mothers are informed about appropriate

         13  vaccinations and vaccination schedules. We continue

         14  to play a major role in promoting appropriate

         15  immunizations for the City's children through early

         16  childhood and into preschool elementary school and

         17  continuing through high school.

         18                 A long list of Health Department

         19  programs and initiatives aimed at encouraging

         20  immunization includes the creation of the

         21  computerized immunization registry, a joint

         22  public/private endeavor to provide up-to-date

         23  immunization records to parents and health care

         24  providers. And the immunization action plan, a long

         25  term collaborative effort to promote immunization
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          2  among preschoolers.

          3                 The Department of Health also

          4  provides for the special needs of specific

          5  populations through contracts with providers for

          6  immunizations and through the operation of a network

          7  of clinics throughout the City that provide free

          8  immunizations to those in need.

          9                 Among the list of immunization

         10  activities, we view the school entrants immunization

         11  requirements and indeed the larger school admission

         12  requirements which includes a complete physical

         13  examination, as one of the most important ways of

         14  ensuring the children receive basic medical care.

         15                 The Health Department School Health

         16  Program plays a key role in implementing the

         17  requirements, along with the New York City Board of

         18  Education.

         19                 As you very well know, the New York

         20  State Public Health Law Section 2164 requires of the

         21  child, in order to be admitted into school for more

         22  than 14 days, must have received the required

         23  schedule of immunizations specified in the law, with

         24  the exception of those with religious objections and

         25  special medical circumstances.
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          2                 Children whose immunizations are not

          3  complete enter school provisionally only if at

          4  registration they provide documentation of having

          5  received an initial series of immunization, and then

          6  the child must continue to receive immunization at

          7  clinically appropriate intervals until the entire

          8  series is completed.

          9                 Students who do not receive the

         10  appropriate schedule of immunization must be

         11  excluded from attendance by the school principal.

         12  Tracking and monitoring this requirement in a City

         13  as large and complex as New York, with large numbers

         14  of children moving in and out of the system,

         15  including immigrant children from countries with

         16  different medical systems and immunization

         17  requirements is a formidable task.

         18                 As the Board of Education had

         19  mentioned before, this task is supported through the

         20  ATS, the Board of Education's computerized pupil

         21  record-keeping system that is capable of maintaining

         22  electronic student immunization records. It is

         23  primarily from this system that we can measure the

         24  compliance rate of schools.

         25                 During the 1997/'96 school year, we
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          2  began a collaboration with the Board of Education to

          3  develop a joint strategy for improving immunization

          4  compliance in the school. Part of this strategy was

          5  to improve the accuracy of the record-keeping

          6  systems through the immunization verification

          7  project, which began in the spring of 1998.

          8                 The school health programs, and

          9  public health advisors, working with the school,

         10  secretaries in the school, who initially review and

         11  record immunization status of children registering

         12  in public schools attempt to verify the computerized

         13  records and reconcile them with immunization

         14  documents on file.

         15                 The DOH school nurses or public

         16  health advisors then send letters to parents of

         17  children whose records are not complete, or who are

         18  in provisional status notifying them of the

         19  immunizations required and providing them with

         20  information to identify a nearby facility where the

         21  child may receive immunizations if there is no

         22  regular health care provider.

         23                 We believe the school efforts between

         24  the Department of Health and the Board of Education

         25  as being fruitful.
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          2                 Our initial review of more than

          3  60,000 records in 1998 indicated that the

          4  approximately 84 percent of the ATS immunization

          5  record accurately depicted the student's

          6  immunization status.

          7                 After reconciliation of the

          8  incomplete ATS records for the available documents

          9  on file, the percentage of students not in

         10  compliance was only about five percent.

         11                 We are continuing to work with the

         12  Board of Education to improve the accuracy of the

         13  system with regard to health and immunization

         14  records, and the discussions are currently underway

         15  to resolve some of the technical problems so that

         16  the school health personnel will have access to

         17  information about students' immunization status on

         18  the ATS system.

         19                 During the 1999/2000 school year, the

         20  Department began to take enforcement action against

         21  the number of schools whose records indicated a low

         22  compliance rate.

         23                 In January of 2000, 18 schools with

         24  vaccination completion levels below 75 percent were

         25  sent Commissioner's orders to compel corrective
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          2  action.

          3                 We saw an immediate improvement in

          4  these schools, and by early May all the schools had

          5  reached 95 percent.

          6                 The immunization completion rate of

          7  new entrants increased from 89 percent in '98/'99

          8  school year, to 92 percent in 1999/2000 school year.

          9                 In the public schools, the

         10  vaccination completion rate for new entrants is

         11  increased from 85 percent in 1997/1998 school year,

         12  to 92 percent in 1999/2000 school year.

         13                 As of April 11th, 2001, according to

         14  the ATS data, the completion rate for public schools

         15  is about 92 percent overall and 85 percent for new

         16  entrants.

         17                 There are a number of reasons these

         18  rates are lower than last year. One reason is this

         19  is the first year that high schools have been

         20  required to put immunization information in the ATS,

         21  and there are large numbers of high school students

         22  lacking data in the ATS system.

         23                 In the past years, this information

         24  was reported in several paper forms. Based on the

         25  information in the ATS system, the new entrants in
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          2  high schools are the group with the lowest

          3  completion rates and the most lacking in data.

          4                 Another factor lowering the overall

          5  completion rate is the fact that approximately 12

          6  percent of seventh graders in public schools were

          7  lacking Hepatitis B vaccination in the ATS records,

          8  and another 19 percent are in progress, but

          9  incomplete for Hepatitis B vaccinations.

         10                 As you know, this is the first year

         11  of implementation of the new state law requiring

         12  Hepatitis B vaccinations for seventh graders.

         13                 Despite a massive effort by the

         14  Department of Health and the Board of Education to

         15  inform parents well in advance of its effective

         16  date, beginning with the current school year

         17  compliance has been disappointing.

         18                 Our efforts included letters in

         19  Spanish and English to school principals and

         20  parents, as well as the distribution of brochures

         21  for the schools and radio announcements in both

         22  Spanish and English.

         23                 The Department also provided notice

         24  to health care providers through the City health

         25  information, our publication for medical community
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          2  and separate letters from the Commissioner of the

          3  Department to the City's physicians.

          4                 In addition, the school health

          5  program is offering free on-site Hepatitis B

          6  vaccinations in the seventh grades in both public

          7  and the non-public schools.

          8                 In response to the most recent review

          9  of the ATS records, we are focusing our enforcement

         10  efforts upon three groups: One, the elementary and

         11  medical schools with large numbers of excludable

         12  children for any reason.

         13                 Two, middle schools with seventh

         14  graders who have not received Hepatitis B

         15  vaccination and are excludable.

         16                 And the third is in high schools that

         17  have not entered data on new entrants, and those

         18  high schools with large numbers of students for whom

         19  data has been entered, but who are nevertheless

         20  incomplete, according to the ATS system.

         21                 The immunization program in

         22  conjunction with the Board of Education and the

         23  School Health Program has sent out four mailings to

         24  school to address this problem, targeting both

         25  public and non-public schools. All letters included
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          2  educational materials, explaining in detail the

          3  mandated immunization requirements and included

          4  sample exclusion letters, as well as comprehensive

          5  listing of all DOH locations that provide

          6  immunization for school children.

          7                 On March 21st, 2001 a letter was

          8  sent, a total of 135 public schools ATS information

          9  showed less than 80 percent vaccination completion

         10  levels.

         11                 On the same date, a letter was sent

         12  to a total of 179 public schools with seventh grade

         13  students regarding the new Hepatitis B requirement.

         14                 On March 12th, 2001, a general letter

         15  was sent to a total of 927 non-public schools

         16  explaining the need for immunization compliance and

         17  reminding the schools that the requirements exclude

         18  those students who lack an immunization record or

         19  whose provisional period has expired.

         20                 In addition, the letter regarding the

         21  new requirement for Hepatitis B immunization for

         22  seventh graders was sent to 212 private schools that

         23  have seventh grade students.

         24                 Based on the April 11th ATS report,

         25  we are now starting commissioner's orders in eight
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          2  schools with an acceptably low immunization

          3  completion levels.

          4                 While there are some complicating

          5  factors associated with the implementation of the

          6  new mandates and new procedures that are affecting

          7  compliance rates this year, historically there is no

          8  one factor that appears to be common to those

          9  schools with lower than average compliance.

         10                 They are located throughout the City

         11  and are not confined to any specific neighborhoods

         12  or school districts. Many schools with poor

         13  performance last year have shown significant

         14  improvement this year while others have fallen

         15  behind.

         16                 We are committed to strengthening our

         17  efforts and working with all schools to improve

         18  their compliance with the state law and the health

         19  code to assure that school children are protected

         20  against immunizable communicable diseases.

         21                 I will be happy to try to answer any

         22  questions that you may have.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

         25  Commissioner.
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          2                 Let me perhaps, you heard the Board

          3  of Education, this ongoing dialogue, this reporting,

          4  that's not disputed? You are getting it? You are

          5  receiving it? You are working with them?

          6                 DR. MOJICA: Yes, sir. That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, they also

          8  said that allegedly there is a school nurse in every

          9  elementary school; is that still the case where you

         10  provide with a school nurse in every elementary

         11  school?

         12                 DR. MOJICA: That is indeed correct,

         13  we have a school nurse.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That is what? I'm

         15  sorry.

         16                 DR. MOJICA: That is correct. There is

         17  a school nurse, the school nurse can be the

         18  Department of Health in elementary schools.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Every day in

         20  every elementary school there is no vacancies, there

         21  is no retirements?

         22                 Listen, Doc, I went to Community

         23  School District 13 legislative breakfast, and the

         24  number one complaint they had was that they don't

         25  have a nurse in every elementary school. So, again,
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          2  I want to put you on record, sir; are you sure that

          3  there is a nurse in every elementary school, every

          4  single day?

          5                 DR. MOJICA: We do have a school nurse

          6  in every elementary school that can provide to us a

          7  place where we can have a medical room or a school

          8  nurse room. There are no school nurses from the

          9  Health Department in places where there is a

         10  school-based clinic.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right. But I

         12  believe that number was 56?

         13                 DR. MOJICA: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If I remember

         15  correctly, the total elementary school number,

         16  something like 600 something?

         17                 DR. MOJICA: About 690.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And of the 690,

         19  56 of them you are not in because they have a

         20  school-based health clinic?

         21                 DR. MOJICA: That is correct, sir. We

         22  have taken the policy that we are not going to send

         23  a school nurse from the Department of Health, in

         24  schools where there is a school-based clinic.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, do you have
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          2  -- can we track whether you do have a nurse in

          3  those schools that do not -- can you provide this

          4  Committee with those schools that you provide every

          5  single day, other than the 56 that are school based?

          6                 DR. MOJICA: Yes, sir.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, second, you

          8  said that you're in every school if they provide you

          9  with space. Well, the only place, and I'm not sure I

         10  understand what I'm hearing here, that you don't

         11  provide is 56 schools because they have a

         12  school-based clinic, correct?

         13                 DR. MOJICA: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That means that

         15  all the others you do have your presence in that

         16  school?

         17                 DR. MOJICA: Yes, that is correct.

         18  Except for about a dozen schools where we currently

         19  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I'm sorry, except

         21  for what?

         22                 DR. MOJICA: About a dozen schools

         23  where we currently do not have space for the school

         24  nurse to be present on a daily basis.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.
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          2                 Can you return to the table, please?

          3  Both of you. Because I'm going to help you out, this

          4  is the coordination that Una Clarke was talking

          5  about.

          6                 Thank you. Why don't you just sit

          7  next to the good doctor.

          8                 What is the total elementary schools

          9  buildings in your system. The number I gave you is

         10  600 plus; is that also junior high schools, or is

         11  that just elementary?

         12                 DR. MARX: There are 1,100 schools, so

         13  I think that 600 --  yes, elementary.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Elementary, okay.

         15  But you hear what Dr. Mojica is now saying? I am

         16  told, at least when I got briefed before this

         17  meeting, that of the 600 plus elementary school,

         18  which is supposed to have a school nurse in every

         19  single school, with the exception of, not DOH nurse,

         20  56 of those schools have school-based clinics. So,

         21  you remove that from the 600 plus. Now, that 56 is

         22  only in elementary, or is that also intermediate

         23  high school? Just elementary?

         24                 DR. MARX: Just elementary. There are

         25  about 100 school-based clinics.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, elementary.

          3  Now Dr. Mojica says, as I, like the dentist, try to

          4  find the right tooth, tells me that about a dozen

          5  where they can provide the nurse, they don't because

          6  they don't have the space.

          7                 Question: What are we doing since

          8  that the service that you testified is a priority of

          9  the Chancellor, and it's mandated by law, what are

         10  we doing? Because I just cannot believe that,

         11  although it's overcrowding, if you can show me that

         12  every space is used in a school, then I can't

         13  believe all 12 happen to be, for example.

         14                 What are you going to do or how are

         15  we going to address those 12? And do you know the 12

         16  schools that he's referring to? And can we get those

         17  12 schools so we have an idea in what borough?

         18                 DR. MARX: I've known that the quality

         19  of the space is a problem, and that's an issue of

         20  crowding. I actually, this is the first time I'm

         21  hearing that there are actually 12 schools where

         22  there is no space allocated. I never knew that

         23  before, so I will take that to the Chancellor.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me tell you

         25  something. You and I work more than I do with the
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          2  Board of Education, in particular, not only you but

          3  really Neal Cohen, and one of the things that this

          4  Council and this Committee has done is, and we

          5  believe in mobile units, and so my question is, if

          6  you don't have the space, why are we not using

          7  mobile units at those locations to still provide the

          8  services? We provided you with the means.

          9                 You're confused?

         10                 What would it take to provide those

         11  services at those 12 schools in the absence of

         12  space?

         13                 DR. MOJICA: Right now in those

         14  schools that we have no current space, we are

         15  arranging with the school principals for space for

         16  us to be accommodated.

         17                 As Dr. Marx had stated, some of the

         18  space that are made available to us are not always

         19  suitable to have a medical clinic for which certain

         20  things are being done, such as providing medication

         21  during fiscal examination.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         23  that. But here's my dilemma with the scenario. There

         24  are 12 schools, 12 elementary schools, that can have

         25  the presence of your agency because we agreed upon
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          2  that, and it's not only immunization, it's the whole

          3  host. It's what I, when I was growing up in

          4  Williamsburg, relied upon the school nurse, that

          5  whenever I got sick, I wanted the aspirin or what

          6  have you, or before it got to a point where she

          7  called my mother or what have you, my survival was

          8  that nurse.

          9                 If I didn't eat that morning,

         10  although my grandmother made sure that I couldn't

         11  leave the house without breakfast and today, as

         12  young as I am, I don't leave my house without

         13  breakfast, but there are many students who do go to

         14  your schools who may not take advantage not only of

         15  the breakfast program -- so, I'm talking about,

         16  there's symptoms, it's not deliberately, it's just

         17  that the hustle-bustle.

         18                 And, so, my question is, what can we

         19  do, rather than waiting for space to be available,

         20  what, as an agency are your alternative plans to

         21  still provide those services at that location?

         22                 DR. MOJICA: The only thing that we

         23  can tell you is to really work with a public school,

         24  where the principal or who is responsible in that

         25  building, to provide us with a room.
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          2                 What we do in cases like that is,

          3  those records, a review of the records of those

          4  children is being done by school nurses assigned to

          5  other schools close by, but that's not acceptable in

          6  terms of having a nurse in presence every day, so we

          7  are diligently working with people over in the same

          8  school to provide us with an appropriate room where

          9  a nursing presence can be made available.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         11  that.

         12                 Again, today we are in modern times

         13  that things can be provided even temporarily. My

         14  question is, what are we doing -- look, if I was a

         15  parent, I don't want my child to go to another

         16  school. For no other reason, safety. If for no other

         17  reason, transportation. For no other reason, I could

         18  give you a whole host of stories. But I'll tell you

         19  something, if it was somewhere else, you wouldn't

         20  get away with it, and I'm not blaming you.

         21                 What I'll need to hear as we're

         22  moving forward on the budget to your agency pretty

         23  soon in the hearings, please tell Commissioner Neal

         24  Cohen, I want to know what protocols, what steps are

         25  we going to do to provide those 12 locations with
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          2  temporarily quarters, where we continue to provide

          3  what we are supposed to do, not immunization, but

          4  the reason why the nurse was put back into the

          5  school was to provide with a whole host of health

          6  services, and that -- let me ask you this: Do you

          7  have a list of those 12 schools?

          8                 DR. MOJICA: Certainly.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You do.

         10                 Do you have it with you?

         11                 DR. MOJICA: Not with me at the

         12  moment.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I only hope

         14  that one of those schools is not in my district,

         15  because you know what's going to happen if I find

         16  one of my schools happening to be one of them. You

         17  get the message?

         18                 So, I'm giving you a heads up. And

         19  I'm not being negative, I'm not being critical. I

         20  cannot accept as a Chairman and this Committee -- I

         21  mean, can you imagine Pedro Espada in the Bronx, in

         22  one of those schools in the Bronx? He'll be

         23  crucified. And not because he didn't do his job,

         24  because this Council worked with the Administration,

         25  we're supposed to have a school, nurses. I'm trying
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          2  to work now on the intermediate and high schools,

          3  but why would I deal with the intermediate and the

          4  high schools, and right now I'm being told that 12

          5  locations in the City who can have on site health

          6  services, have to go somewhere else to get it

          7  because we lack space.

          8                 So, if the Board of Education can't

          9  provide it, my question is, what are we going to do?

         10  Because this is not the Board of Education when we

         11  dealt with the nurses back in the schools. This was

         12  the agency, Department of Health, and this Council.

         13                 And, so, I want you to understand

         14  that I need to find out what are we going to do to

         15  deal with those 12 locations, okay?

         16                 DR. MOJICA: Certainly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And please give

         18  me a list of those 12 locations.

         19                 Now, I also ask the Board of

         20  Education for a status of those locations, i.e., why

         21  the space --

         22                 DR. MARX: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And if there's

         24  requirements, Dr. Mojica, can I also get a copy of

         25  what are the requirements that you need so that
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          2  those Council people whose district they may be in,

          3  I'd like to share that information with them so that

          4  they could also work with you all to try to, you

          5  know, accelerate or help.

          6                 Okay, any other questions?

          7                 Thank you so much. I appreciate that.

          8                 DR. MOJICA: You're very welcome.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sergeant-At-Arms,

         11  have all the members who are present into the

         12  Chambers.

         13                 (Recess taken.)

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: We are now back

         15  in session, and we will now move to vote on Intro.

         16  627-A which relates to ferret possessions in New

         17  York City, and of course this legislation would end

         18  the current prohibition on the possession of ferrets

         19  in the City, while establishing a framework that

         20  encourages responsible pet owners.

         21                 I would like to point out that there

         22  has been a number of technical changes to the bill,

         23  not to the bill, but technical. The legal jargon,

         24  and I'm not a lawyer, so -- which is why the

         25  legislation we are voting on today is an A version.
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          2                 I'm going to ask my Committee to go

          3  through the provisions of Intro. 627-A so that all

          4  my colleagues understand the technical changes.

          5                 Judith.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Changes from

          7  when?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Excuse me,

          9  Councilman?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Changes from

         11  when? The technical changes from when?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, that's why

         13  I'm calling the Counsel, so that she would walk us

         14  through on the technical changes, which now is an A

         15  version, and after she finishes, if you have a

         16  question, since you are an attorney, maybe you can

         17  help me out, because I am not.

         18                 Having said that, Judith, you want to

         19  walk us through on why Intro. 627-A is an A version

         20  based upon technical changes?

         21                 MS. MACFARLANE: Yes, 627 was amended

         22  to this A version. If you want, I can walk you

         23  through the bill.

         24                 There has been an index placed in, it

         25  just gives the titles of each section that the
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          2  change, which makes us to have an A version. The

          3  sections were renumbered, that's another change.

          4                 And Section 17-805, which is the

          5  construction section, was amended to track the

          6  health code exactly. Section 17-805 spells out the

          7  places that are exempted from the law, which are

          8  zoos, labs, operating pursuant to Section 504 of the

          9  public health law, circuses, and places that receive

         10  permits to exhibit animals from the Department of

         11  Health.

         12                 And 17-806 gives the Commissioner of

         13  the Department of Health the ability to promulgate

         14  rules in the health code to implement the provisions

         15  of the Chapter.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now that our

         17  counsel to the Committee went over the technical

         18  changes, Council Member Leffler, do you have any

         19  questions on the technical changes?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I don't plan

         21  to ask any question right now.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I'm sorry, I

         23  didn't hear you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I don't plan

         25  to ask any question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, let me,

          3  before we ask the clerk to call the roll, and let me

          4  say that I'm going to leave the roll open for at

          5  least a half hour, because Council Member Reed

          6  telephoned, he's in the subway, and, so, we're going

          7  to give him an opportunity to vote, but Mr. Clerk, I

          8  will leave it open for a half hour, since he said

          9  he's going to be here in ten minutes.

         10                 Before I move, I'm also going to my

         11  colleagues, especially those of you who are senior

         12  members. I ask you to personally accept, one, my

         13  apology, because I'm going to call, after I let the

         14  prime sponsor, who is not a member of this

         15  Committee, but because she has been consistent and

         16  coming to all of our meetings, I'm going to allow

         17  her to make a statement.

         18                 I'm going to call upon Council Member

         19  Eva Moskowitz, who was here when we first opened the

         20  hearing, but she has a 12:00 appointment that was on

         21  her schedule, and in fairness to her, I'm going to

         22  have her called out of order, and I don't think

         23  anybody objects to that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: In fact, if she

         25  wants to vote before I speak, it's fine.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, so why

          3  don't we do that.

          4                 Why don't you call, let's call

          5  Council Member Eva Moskowitz so she can vote and

          6  leave.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Moskowitz.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair, and thank you, Kathryn Freed.

         10                 I vote aye. Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Just hold

         12  the roll call, and let me call upon the prime

         13  sponsor, Council Member Kathryn Freed for some

         14  statement.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you very

         16  much, Mr. Chair. And I want to thank you also on

         17  behalf of myself, and I know the number of hundreds,

         18  if not thousands of people who have weighed in in

         19  this bill in favor or what kind of ultimately may

         20  boil down to what may seem like a silly thing for a

         21  number of people, that we should spend so much time

         22  about ferrets when there are so many important

         23  things in the City that we do take up daily,

         24  including health care and education and housing.

         25                 But the reason that I know that I've
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          2  taken time on this is, in addition to sort of being

          3  the animal maven of the Council, it's just that it

          4  really, to my mind, as been a very bad bill, and

          5  when you look at the fact that 48 out of 50 states

          6  legalize ferrets, that ferrets are legal outside of

          7  the City of New York, that for those people, when I

          8  have gotten phone calls from tenants who had ferrets

          9  as pets, that they've loved, just like any family

         10  loves their dogs or their cats and where they've had

         11  children and they don't want to give up the ferrets

         12  because the children have bonded with the ferrets,

         13  and, yet, they've been placed in a position where

         14  they've been harassed by their landlord, or they

         15  don't know what to do, they don't know if they

         16  should get rid of the ferrets, they don't want to do

         17  that because it would be -- you know, because they

         18  love the animals and they don't want to upset their

         19  children. At the same time, obviously, they don't

         20  want to be homeless, and the irony is they can't

         21  give these allegedly "dangerous animals," according

         22  to the Health Department to a zoo because the zoos

         23  won't take them because they say, well, ferrets are

         24  domesticated and we only take wild animals.

         25                 So, this whole -- it's been a very
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          2  interesting experience just trying to take the

          3  testimony from almost every animal organization,

          4  including the US Humane Society, the ASPCA, I mean

          5  it's endless. No one literally, including the

          6  veterinarians, like literally no one that we've

          7  heard from that is an expert on animals, except the

          8  New York City Health Department, and I'm not sure

          9  they're an expert on animals, has been in favor of

         10  seeing or continuing ferrets as dangerous animals,

         11  they all say they've been domesticated. It's a point

         12  of fact they have been domesticated longer than

         13  cats.

         14                 So, you know, that's why I say this

         15  to me in a way is kind of silly, except that I know

         16  it has impacted on so many people. And I got into it

         17  because the idea of us flying our Health Department,

         18  running counter to the State's Health Department,

         19  the US Health Department, it just seemed silly to

         20  me. And then when I realized that there were some

         21  real human stories from people who got stuck in the

         22  middle of this, it just seemed very unfair. I even

         23  had Mark Moran, who has the Ferret Flash, who shows

         24  up every month or so on the Martha Stewart Program

         25  when she brings in her nieces and nephews and shows
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          2  them all these pets.

          3                 So, it seems silly. I'm sorry that it

          4  seems to have engendered so much back and forth and

          5  controversy, when essentially my initial reason for

          6  getting into this is just, you know, I knew ferrets,

          7  I knew people who had ferrets, I don't have them.

          8  They're cute little animals that people own and care

          9  very much about, and there as much of their family,

         10  as I said, as dogs and cats.

         11                 So, again, I thank you for taking on

         12  this bill. I thank the Speaker of the Council for

         13  having, letting us have a hearing on this, and I

         14  really urge all of my colleagues to vote aye on this

         15  bill.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Continue the roll

         18  call.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Since I was

         23  only pushed on to this Committee about a month or so

         24  ago and was not --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do you want to be
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          2  recognized to explain your vote, Mr. Leffler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes, I'm

          4  explaining it. And since I did not therefore attend

          5  the hearing on this, I will pass at this point so I

          6  can hear the wisdom of other members who did benefit

          7  from attending the hearing on it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          9  Leffler passes to be recalled.

         10                 Continue the roll call.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Clarke.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 May I be allowed to explain my vote?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         16  Clarke.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I have been on

         18  this Committee for the last ten years, and this is

         19  the third time the issue of the ferrets have come up

         20  as pets. First with Dr. Hamburg. She testified and

         21  said it was not good for the City of New York for

         22  public health reasons, the fact that they are not

         23  domesticated. Then it came up again under Dr.

         24  Marcos, and his testimony was the same. The third

         25  time under Dr. Cohen. The testimony has been
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          2  consistent, in terms of ferrets.

          3                 Because I'm not an expert on ferrets,

          4  I have been a teacher in a classroom where we've had

          5  many kinds of pets, we've had hamsters, we've had

          6  rabbits, we've had Guinea Pigs, I don't know enough

          7  about ferrets.

          8                 I can only take the testimony given

          9  by the experts and those who are charged to protect

         10  the public health of all New Yorkers. They have

         11  consistently said that ferrets are not domestic

         12  animals or pets. For that reason, I vote no.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Espada.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Quinn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Oddo.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: May I be

         19  temporarily excused to explain my vote?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         21  Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thanks, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Since I pushed my way onto this

         25  Committee, I have attempted to educate myself to the
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          2  point of making decisions when I was forced to vote.

          3  I was originally a sponsor of this bill, because

          4  Council Member Freed, who I greatly respect, asked

          5  me to, and I went on the bill without actually

          6  thinking twice about it. It seemed like a no

          7  brainer.

          8                 Subsequent to that, I've had a

          9  conversation with various folks, and I have to say

         10  without attempting to trivialize or minimize this

         11  issue of the 250 issues that I'm bouncing around in

         12  my head related to my district, I frankly haven't

         13  spent a great deal of time independently looking

         14  into this matter. I've heard the testimony at the

         15  first hearing.

         16                 I'm going to punt and buy myself a

         17  few more days and vow to take some time out of my

         18  insane schedule to do my own research as best as

         19  possible, and I will abstain and make a final

         20  decision on the Stated Council day next week.

         21                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Continue the roll

         23  call.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: May I please
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          2  be excused to explain my vote?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          4  Leffler.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: To me the

          6  paramount consideration here is the avoidance of

          7  health risk.

          8                 The Department of Health should be

          9  the best judge of health risk. Very possibly the

         10  points that Kathryn Freed, Council Member Freed

         11  cited 40 out of 50 states having legalized this;

         12  ferrets can be had as domestic animals outside, in

         13  New York State, outside of New York City, show that

         14  the best wisdom at this point would in fact be to

         15  allow residents to have ferrets as pets in New York

         16  City.

         17                 Also, in my 24 years in the Council,

         18  I've certainly had the experience where ultimately I

         19  used my judgment and concluded that an individual

         20  agency determination was, in my judgment, not the

         21  best judgment in the public interest.

         22                 However, here it seems to me that the

         23  Department of Health ought to have greater expertise

         24  in assessing health risks than the Council Members

         25  of this Committee.
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          2                 Now, what do they set forth as their

          3  basis? It seems what they set forth, for example, is

          4  that ferrets can occasionally get away from the

          5  custody of the person who has the ferret, and

          6  ferrets need to be reinoculated at a periodic basis,

          7  that one inoculation does not serve for the life of

          8  a ferret. So, that there is some risk. Is this a

          9  sufficient risk? Well, the Department of Health

         10  thinks it's a sufficient risk. Maybe it's not a

         11  sufficient risk. Maybe if the membership changes in

         12  the next Administration, better wisdom would be

         13  brought to bear.

         14                 Nevertheless, it seems to me that at

         15  this point the Department of Health ought to be

         16  better able to assess the health risks than I, and

         17  in my judgment what I've seen so far are the other

         18  members of the Committee not having attended the

         19  hearing, since I was only pushed onto this Committee

         20  about a month and a half ago.

         21                 Based on this it seems to me that at

         22  this point, I am not in favor of this legislation,

         23  even though the legislation may ultimately prove to

         24  be the best wisdom.

         25                 Sometimes the authority, weight and
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          2  presumed expertise of the administrative agency, it

          3  seems to me, should have more weight than my own, or

          4  than colleagues.

          5                 For those reasons, at this point I

          6  will abstain.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Continue the roll

          8  call.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of

         10  four in the affirmative, one in the negative and two

         11  abstentions, the vote is completed and left open.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say

         13  for the clerk, and for the record, that I will leave

         14  the roll open at the request of Council Member Phil

         15  Reed, who is en route, and instruct the clerk that

         16  if by 12:30 Council Member Reed has not come into

         17  the Chambers, then this bill does not have the

         18  number of votes it needs, but I will not allow it to

         19  go on beyond 12:30.

         20                 So, having said that, we will leave

         21  the roll open until 12:30 for Council Member Reed.

         22                 Now, let me before I close, let me

         23  say to my dear colleague Council Member Leffler,

         24  because more than once you referred to being pushed

         25  on this Committee, although I am privileged to serve
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          2  on your Committee on Public Safety, and I was

          3  honored regardless of how you got pushed or shoved

          4  or what have you to be on this Committee; however,

          5  if you do not believe that being on this Committee

          6  is something that you should be on, I am prepared as

          7  the Chairman to champion for you to be removed from

          8  the Committee and put in a committee that you feel

          9  comfortable.

         10                 This Committee takes pride in its

         11  work. This Committee has made health services a

         12  priority, and I would hate to allow a member to feel

         13  uncomfortable because he was pushed on this

         14  Committee.

         15                 So, I just wanted for the record to

         16  say that if you're not comfortable being a member of

         17  this Committee, I, as the Chairman, have a

         18  responsibility to make sure that you are

         19  comfortable. And if your request, if you're asking

         20  to be removed from this Committee, I will be the

         21  first one to go to the Speaker and request that you

         22  be removed.

         23                 I hope you do not continue to

         24  function in this Committee based upon that you were

         25  pushed on this Committee. This Committee is too
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          2  important for this Committee and the members,

          3  because health, as far as we're concerned, is a

          4  priority.

          5                 So, having said that --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Can I say

          7  something, a point of personal privilege?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I'm very

         10  comfortable as a member of this Committee.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I, after 24

         13  years on the Council, was, despite my having told

         14  the Chief of Staff that I wanted to be on other

         15  committees and had been on other committees for 24

         16  years, pushed onto this Committee. I think that's an

         17  apt characterization of what happened.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Maybe so, Council

         19  Member, and you made it clear not only on this

         20  Committee but more than once, and if it gets to a

         21  point where whether you were pushed or not, the

         22  point is this Committee is about the health issues

         23  and services, and, so, again, you know, I don't want

         24  to go through eight months, I don't want to go

         25  through eight months of constantly hearing that you
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          2  were pushed on this Committee, because if you're not

          3  comfortable, I'm just simply, I'm volunteering

          4  myself to help you not to feel uncomfortable. Again,

          5  I just want to be clear.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I'm perfectly

          7  comfortable.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine. Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I was more

         10  comfortable on committees that I served on for 24

         11  years, but I'm still comfortable with my judgment on

         12  this Committee. But I'm more comfortable where I've

         13  had 24 years of experience.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: All right,

         15  Council Member.

         16                 I see that Council Member Reed has

         17  come into the Chambers, so Mr. Clerk, would you go

         18  back and call Council Member Reed for the purpose of

         19  -- and Council Member, we are voting on 627-A, the

         20  domestic ferret bill.

         21                 Mr. Clerk.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Council Member

         23  Reed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of
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          2  five in the affirmative, one in the negative, with

          3  two abstentions, the item is adopted. Please sign

          4  the reports.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you, and

          6  seeing no other business before this Committee, I

          7  close these hearings.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.)

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            88

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION
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